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The Directors have pleasure in submitting to the Shareholders their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of Letshego Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
( the Group ) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Nature of business
The Group embarked on a focused transformation process in 2014, with a key focus on sustainable
inclusive financial services and diversification from its unsecured lending model to civil servants,
combined with African expansion. This new focus has so far resulted in the Group expanding its
footprint to 11 African countries with representation in East, West and Southern Africa. Also, 6 out of
the 11 subsidiaries now operate with deposit taking licences which is a key priority in achieving the

Stated capital
Stated Capital of the Group at 31 December 2018 amounted to P862, 621,720 (31 December 2017:
P849, 845,234).

On 28 March 2018, 5,345,810 ordinary shares were issued in terms of the Group`s Long Term
Incentive Plan. These were issued from shares currently held as treasury shares and the remaining
treasury shares at the end of the year were 19,054,190 (2017: 24,400,000). This resulted in an
increase in stated capital by P12, 776,486.

In the prior period on 01 March 2017, 9,281,250 ordinary shares were issued at various prices in
terms of the Group`s Long Term Incentive Plan. In addition, 24,400,000 ordinary shares were
repurchased by the company in October 2017 and are held as treasury shares. This resulted in a net
decrease in stated capital by P25, 793,392.

Dividends

An interim dividend of 8.7 thebe per share (prior year: 8.5 thebe per share) was declared on 29
August 2018.

A second and final dividend of 3.3 thebe per share (prior year: 9.0 thebe per share and an additional
special dividend of 4.1 thebe per share as distribution of proceeds from the Namibia IPO) was
declared on 1 March 2019 and paid on 2 April 2019.

Directors
The following persons were directors of the company during the year:

Non-executive

E.N Banda Chairman South Africa

S. Price UK

R. Thornton Resigned 2 August 2018 USA

H. Karuhanga Uganda

J.de Kock Resigned and appointed as Acting Group Chief
Financial Officer on 5 March 2019

South Africa

Dr G.Somolekae Botswana

C. G. Van Schalkwyk South Africa

R. N. Alam Appointed 19 January 2018 USA

C. Lesetedi Botswana

G. Van Heerde South Africa

ORT
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Directors (continued)

Executive

A.C.M. Low Group Chief Executive Officer - resigned 2 August
2018

UK

P.J.S Crouse Group Chief Executive Officer - appointed 24
September 2018 and resigned 27 March 2019

South Africa

C. W. Patterson Group Chief Financial Officer resigned 2 March
2019

Ireland

D. Ndebele Interim Chief Executive Officer appointed 27
March 2019

Botswana

Directors' shareholdings

The aggregate number of shares held directly by Directors at 31 December 2018 were at 28,987 (31
December 2017: 6,568,775). Full details of this shareholding are available at the registered office of
the company or at the office of the transfer secretaries.

Long Term Incentive Plan

The Group operates an equity-settled conditional Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), which was
approved by shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 December 2005. Under
the plan, conditional share awards are granted to management and key employees. The estimation of
shares to vest for a year is based on internal projections as to the specified non-market conditions
being achieved. Shares are awarded in the holding company, Letshego Holdings Limited, which is
listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange.
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The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated annual
financial statements of Letshego
of financial position at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting records and effective system of risk
management, as well as the preparation of the supplementary schedules included in these financial
statements.

The Directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern
and have no reason to believe the businesses will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The external auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated annual financial
statements give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Approval of the consolidated annual financial statements:

The consolidated annual financial statements of Letshego Holdings Limited as identified in the first
paragraph, were approved by the Board of Directors on 16 April 2019 and is signed on its behalf by:

_____________________ _____________________
E.N. BANDA S. PRICE
CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR



















LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
.

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,188,402 492,367
Advances to customers 4 8,698,831 7,768,904
Other receivables 5 252,491 201,605
Available-for-sale financial asset 8 53,591 53,591
Income tax receivable 19,074 17,967
Property, plant and equipment 6 80,532 92,061
Intangible assets 7 45,488 55,340
Goodwill 9 106,229 122,280
Deferred tax assets 23.1 211,651 156,655

Total assets 10,656,289 8,960,770

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities
Customer deposits 11 497,718 228,432
Cash collateral 13 27,028 27,319
Trade and other payables 12 492,225 261,751
Income tax payable 232,132 182,879
Deferred tax liabilities 3,205 5,290
Borrowings 14 5,329,319 3,984,607

Total liabilities 6,581,627 4,690,278

Stated capital 15 862,621 849,845
Foreign currency translation reserve (696,276) (680,417)
Legal reserve 16 73,519 39,607
Share based payment reserve 18,089 38,840
Retained earnings 3,500,317 3,709,308

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 3,758,270 3,957,183

Non - controlling interests 316,392 313,309

Total shareholders' equity 4,074,662 4,270,492

Total liabilities and equity 10,656,289 8,960,770

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note

Interest income 18 2,718,257 2,252,636
Interest expense 19 (654,079) (470,630)

Net interest income 2,064,178 1,782,006
Fee and commission income 20 30,735 38,596
Other operating income 20.1 267,421 234,169

Operating income 2,362,334 2,054,771
Employee benefits 21 (390,177) (367,057)
Other operating expenses 22 (590,158) (446,952)

Net income before impairment and taxation 1,381,999 1,240,762
Impairment of advances 4 (361,491) (237,149)

Profit before taxation 1,020,508 1,003,613
Taxation 23 (510,026) (322,367)

Profit for the year 510,482 681,246

Attributable to :
Equity holders of the parent company 438,639 637,663
Non - controlling interest 71,843 43,583

Profit for the year 510,482 681,246

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign operations - foreign currency translation
differences (48,688) (39,163)

Total comprehensive income for the year 461,794 642,083

Attributable to :
Equity holders of the parent company 422,780 591,539
Non - controlling interest 39,014 50,544

Total comprehensive income for the year 461,794 642,083

Earnings per share
24 20.7 29.8

24 20.3 29.2

16
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Note
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 1,020,508 1,003,613
Adjustments for :
- Net interest income (2,064,178) (1,782,006)
- Amortisation of intangible assets 7 11,847 9,636
- Depreciation 6 24,444 23,164
- Disposal and write off 15,214 -
- Impairment and write off charge 4 508,211 376,909
- Impairment of goodwill 2.5 22,000 -
- Long term incentive plan provision (7,975) 25,279
Changes in working capital:
Movement in advances to customers (1,634,519) (1,259,207)
Movement in other receivables (138,946) (31,002)
Movement in trade and other payables 230,474 (36,453)
Movement in customer deposits 269,286 120,736
Movement in cash collateral (291) (11,906)

Cash used in operations (1,743,925) (1,561,237)
Interest received 2,718,257 2,252,636
Interest paid (654,079) (470,630)
Income tax paid (478,948) (290,590)

Net cash flows utilised in operating activities (158,695) (69,821)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payment for acquisition subsidiaries 10 - (90,719)
Cash acquired from acquisitions 10 - 25,864
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 2,340
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (29,891) (42,725)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (29,891) (105,240)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid to equity holders 25 (463,289) (321,607)
Dividends paid to subsidiary non-controlling interest (18,952) (825)
Share buy back 15 - (48,068)
Payment for acquisition of interest in a subsidiary 31.1 (15,547) -
Proceeds from sale of interest in a subsidiary 31.2 - 87,478
Finance obtained from third parties 14 1,938,071 1,039,889
Repayment of borrowings 14 (638,687) (607,853)

Net cash generated from financing activities 801,596 149,014

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents 613,010 (26,047)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents
At the beginning of the year 492,367 529,476
Movement during the year 613,010 (26,047)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (5,035) (11,062)

At the end of the year 3 1,100,342 492,367

18



LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For the year ended 31 December 2018

19

Reporting entity
Letshego Holdings Limited (the Company) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Botswana. The
address of the company is Letshego Place, Plot 22 Khama Crescent, Gaborone, Botswana. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries

Group embarked on a focused
transformation process in 2014, with a key focus on sustainable inclusive financial services and diversification from its
unsecured lending model to civil servants, combined with African expansion. This new focus has so far resulted in the
Group expanding its footprint to 11 African countries with representation in East, West and Southern Africa. Also, 6 out
of the 11 subsidiaries now operate with deposit taking licences which is a ke ambition

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on 16 April 2019.

The following principal accounting policies, which are consistent with prior years, have been adopted in the preparation
of these consolidated annual financial statements except for the adoption of new / amended accounting standards.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Basis of preparation

eco The consolidated annual financial
and the C

currency. Except where indicated, financial information presented in Pula has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments which are disclosed at fair value.

Adoption of new accounting standards
The Group has adopted IFRS 9
IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement was applied). As a results, accounting policies applicable
to financial instruments have been amended accordingly. The other standards that became effective during the current
year did not have any material impact.

Use of judgements and estimates
The preparation of consolidated annual financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by management on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year
of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

Significant judgements made by management in the application of International Financial Reporting Standards consist
mainly on loans and advances, impairments and share based payment calculations. Judgement is also applied to the
valuation of goodwill recognised and probability of having sufficient taxable profits against which deferred tax assets
may be utilised (note 2).



LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

20

Basis of consolidation

Investments in subsidiaries

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable are taken into account. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstances. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on
which control is transferred to the group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is measured at fair value, as
are the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred except if it
relates to the issue of debt or equity securities.

Goodwill
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the G ble net assets acquired is
recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. The carrying amount of goodwill is assessed
annually for impairment. An impairment loss recognised on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra group balances and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra group transactions are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains,
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non controlling interest
Non-controlling interest (NCI) are shown separately in the consolidated statement of financial position and statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive income. NCIs are viewed as equity participants of the Group and all
transactions with minorities are therefore accounted for as equity transactions and included in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. le net assets.

Loss of control
When the group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained is measured at fair value when control is lost.

in subsidiaries
The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with the
equity owners of the group. A change in ownership in interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect the relative interests in the subsidiary. Any differences between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recorded in equity.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment /
losses.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the plant and
equipment. The estimated useful lives for current and prior periods are as follows:

Computer equipment 3 years
Office furniture and equipment 4 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Land and building 30 - 50 years



LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

21

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Land and buildings are stated on the historical cost basis. Repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss
during the financial period in which these costs are incurred. Whereas the cost of major renovation is included in the
carrying amount of the related asset when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the group.

The residual value and useful life of each part of plant and equipment, if not insignificant, is reassessed annually.
Depreciation costs are recognised on a prorate basis from the date the asset is available for use.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised when it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the Group.
Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment items are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying
amounts and recognised in profit or loss.

Work in progress
Work in progress comprises of:

Costs incurred in the system development currently on-going in respect of the customised lending and financial
reporting module of the Group. The costs associated with this development process is recognised as work in
progress until a time the systems are available for use at which point the respective element will be transferred
to appropriate category of equipment and/or intangible assets and depreciated over the useful life of the asset.
Costs incurred in acquisition and development of property until the property is available for use, at which point
the respective property will be transferred to an appropriate property category and depreciated over the
estimated life of the property.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions conducted in foreign currencies are translated to Pula at the spot exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to
Pula using the closing exchange rate at the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign operations financial statements
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are
translated to Botswana Pula using the closing exchange rate at the financial period end. The income and expenses of
foreign operations are translated to Botswana Pula at rates approximating those exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign currency differences are recognised directly in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve.
When a foreign operation is disposed of, either in part or in full, the relevant amount in the foreign currency translation
reserve is transferred to profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Operating leases
The Group classifies leases as operating leases if the lessor effectively retains the risks and rewards of ownership of
the leased asset. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease
expense.

Intangible assets computer software
Software acquired by the Group is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure on internally developed software is recognised as an asset when the Group is able to demonstrate its
intention and ability to complete the development and use the software in a manner that will generate future economic
benefits, and can reliably measure the costs to complete the development.
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Intangible assets computer software (continued)

The capitalised costs of internally developed software include all costs directly attributable to developing the software,
and are amortised over its useful life. Internally developed software is measured at capitalised cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment.

Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, from the
date that it is available for use. The estimate useful life of software for current and prior periods is three to ten years.
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible assets Brand value and core deposits
Brand value and core deposits acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Brand value is the right to use the trade name and associated brands of the acquired entity and core deposits relates to
the customer relationships attributable to customer deposits of the acquired entity. These are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation at each reporting period. Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of
the amount of the obligation can be made.

Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the related income tax is also
recognised in equity.

Current tax comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment of tax payable for previous years.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not recognised if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that is recognised directly
in equity, or a business combination. The effect on tax of any changes in tax rates is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited directly to equity.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest
method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
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Interest income (continued)

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual / behavioural
terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and
administration charges paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss,
interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss.

Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Commission and fees
arising from group credit life insurance scheme are recognised on a time-apportion ate basis over the period the service
is provided.

Interest expense
Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method as describe under interest income
policy above. Foreign currency gains and losses on interest earning financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss,
as part of interest expense, as they are incurred.

Interest from bank deposits
Interest from bank deposit is earned on an accruals basis at the agreed interest rate with the respective financial
institution.

Other income
Other income comprises income from insurance arrangements, loan settlement fees and other non-core income streams
and are recognised in profit and loss as when they are earned.

Dividend income
The Group recognises dividends when the G

irrespective of whether there is an option to receive cash instead of shares. Dividend income is presented in statement
of profit or loss.

Legal reserve
According to the commercial code applicable to certain subsidiaries, a non-distributable legal reserve of the subsidiaries
annual profits is transferred till the reserve is equal to the subsidiary share capital.

Stated capital
Stated capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received. Incremental costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from initial measurement of the equity instrument.

Treasury shares is where the Group purchases its own equity share capital. The consideration paid, including any
-

issued or sold. Where the shares are subsequently sold or re-issued, any consideration received net of any directly
attributable incremental costs, is included in shareholders equity.

Dividends paid
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised against equity in the period in which they are approved by the directors.
Dividends declared after the reporting date, are not recognised as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are expensed as the related services are provided. Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is recognised for the estimated liability for annual leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date. The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit fund. A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations
for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised in the profit or loss as an expense when they are
due in respect of service rendered before the end of the reporting period. Under the defined contribution plans in which
the Group and its employees participate, the Group and the employees contribute fixed percentages of gross basic
salary on a monthly basis.

The Group also operates a staff incentive bonus scheme. The provision for employee bonus incentive is based on a
predetermined group policy and is recognised in trade and other payables. The accrual for employee bonus incentives
is expected to be settled within 12 months to 36 months.

Payroll administration costs

Administration costs are charged by employers for payroll deduction facilities. These costs are set-off against recoveries
made from clients. Where the Group is not able to recover in full such administration costs, they are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.

Share-based payment transactions
The Group operates an equity-settled conditional Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). Conditional awards are granted to
management and key employees. The Group also grants its own equity instruments to employees of its subsidiary as
part of group share-based payment arrangements. The number of vesting awards is subject to achievement of non-
market conditions.

The grant date fair value of awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of awards that vest.

The fair value of the options is determined excluding non-market vesting conditions. These vesting conditions are
included in the assumptions of the number of options expected to vest. At each reporting date, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of options expected to vest.

The Group recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

Amounts recognised for services received if the options granted do not vest because of failure to satisfy a vesting
condition, are reversed through profit or loss. If options are forfeited after the vesting date, an amount equal to the value
of the options forfeited is debited against the share based payment reserve and credited against retained earnings.

The proceeds received net of any attributable transaction costs are credited to stated capital when the options are
exercised.

Determination of fair value of equity instruments granted

The share price of Letshego Holdings Limited (as quoted on the Botswana Stock
instruments at grant date is the estimated fair value of the share options granted. No adjustments are made for non-
market vesting conditions as there are none. Therefore, no valuation techniques are therefore used (Monte Carlo /
Black Scholes etc.) as the quoted price at grant date is the fair value.

Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products and services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. The G
format for segment reporting is based on geographical segments. Segment results include items that are directly
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
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Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the period.

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average
number of shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares arising from the Long Term Incentive
Plan (LTIP) awards.

Contingent liabilities
The Group recognises a contingent liability where, it has a possible obligation from past events, the existence of which
will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Financial assets and liabilities
consist of the following significant items.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Loans and receivables consists of advances to customers, other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents.

Advances to customers
Advances to customers are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Advances to customers
are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at their
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other receivables
Other receivables comprise deposits and other recoverables which arise during the normal course of business. These
are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct costs, and are subsequently measured at their
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and
deposits held at call with financial institutions. Bank overdrafts, which are repayable on demand and form an integral

management, are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

Available-for-sale financial asset
Available-for-sale assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to
dispose of it within twelve months of the end of the reporting period. Available-for-sale financial asset are subsequently
measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity until the asset is disposed of or determined to be impaired. Dividend received on
available-for-
right to receive payment is established.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost includes borrowings, customer deposits, cash collateral and trade and other
payables.

Borrowings and deposits from customers
Borrowings s sources of funding; they are initially measured at fair value minus
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest
method.



LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

26

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (continued)
Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable, which are normally settled on 30 to 90 day terms, are measured at
cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or
not billed to the Group.

Cash collateral
Cash collateral consist of cash received as security for advances to customers and is held until the customer loan is
fully settled, at which point the balance is refunded to the customer. The cash collateral is set off against a loan
balance only when the loan balance is deemed irrecoverable from the customers.

Recognition
The Group initially recognises financial assets and liabilities on the date that they are originated or on the trade date at
which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or which the group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest
in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its consolidated statement of financial
position, but retains either all risks or rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks
and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognised from the statement of financial position.

In transactions where the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
financial asset, it derecognises the asset if control over the asset is lost.

In transfers where control over the asset is retained, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and
losses arising from a group of similar transactions.

Amortised cost measurement
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at
initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for
impairment.

Fair value measurement
The determination of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer
price quotations for financial instruments traded in active markets. For all other financial instruments fair value is
determined by using valuation techniques.

Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, the discounted cash flow method, comparison to similar
instruments for which market observable prices exist, and valuation models. The Group uses widely recognised
valuation models for determining the fair value of common and simpler financial instruments like interest rate swaps.
For these financial instruments, inputs into models are market observable.
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Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

When entering into a transaction, the financial instrument is recognised initially at fair value. The best evidence of fair
value of a financial instrument at recognition is normally the transaction price, the fair value of the consideration given
or received. The value obtained from the valuation model may differ from the transaction price. This initial difference,
usually an increase, in fair value indicated by valuation techniques is recognised in income depending upon the
individual facts and circumstances of each transaction and not later than when the market data becomes observable.

The value produced by a model or other valuation technique is adjusted to allow for a number of factors as appropriate,
because valuation techniques cannot appropriately reflect all factors market participants take into account when entering
into a transaction. Valuation adjustments are recorded to allow for model risks, bid-ask spreads, liquidity risks, as well
as other factors. Management believes that these valuation adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state
financial instruments carried at fair value.

Identification and measurement of impairment
At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit or loss are impaired. Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a
loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash
flows on the asset that can be estimated reliably.

The Group considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant
financial assets are assessed for specific impairment. All significant assets found not to be specifically impaired are then
collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually
significant are then collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together financial assets (carried at amortised cost)
with similar risk characteristics.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by
a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not otherwise consider,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other
observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in
the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

In assessing collective impairment the Group uses statistical modelling of historical trends of the probability of default,
timing of recove judgment as to whether current
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical
modelling. Default rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against
actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated as the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset s original effective interest
rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against advances to customers.
Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss.

Designation at fair value through profit or loss
The Group may designate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss when either:

the assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or
the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise

Insurance arrangements
The Group has credit and disability cover in place in most markets. Under this arrangement premiums are collected
from customers and paid on to the insurer with the Group earning a fee or profit share. In addition, comprehensive
insurance is in place in Namibia and Mozambique and profit from the underlying insurance arrangements is shared
between the underwriter and the Group.
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Cell captive accounting
A cell captive structure represents an agreement between an insurance entity and the Group to facilitate the writing of
insurance business. The Group has entered into agreement with insurance providers under which the insurance provider
set up an insurance cell within its legal entity, for example a corporate entity subscribes for a separate class of share.

with any profit after deduction of the fees, allocation taxes and other costs payable to the corporate entity.

Derivatives held for risk management purposes
Derivatives held for risk management purposes include all derivative assets and liabilities that are not classified as
trading assets or liabilities. Derivatives held for risk management purposes are measured at fair value in the statement
of financial position and are included in borrowings.

Impairment for non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying value for its non-financial assets to determine whether there is

is tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) is the greater of
its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or
CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.
Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the

.

New standards or amendments that were effective for the first time during the year

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The Group has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 January 2018, which
resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts previously recognised in the financial
statements. The Group did not early adopt any of IFRS 9 in previous periods.

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate comparative figures. Any
adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the
opening retained earnings and other reserves of the current period. The Group has also elected to continue to apply the
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 on adoption of IFRS 9.Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential
amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have also only been applied to the current period. The comparative period notes
disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the prior year.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in our accounting policies for recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also significantly
am
details of the specific IFRS 9 accounting policies applied in the current period (as well as the previous IAS 39 accounting
policies applied in the comparative period) are described in more detail on page 29 and note 1.3.1.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for revenue recognition. The model features a contract-based five-
step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. It replaces existing
revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer
Loyalty Programmes. IFRS 15 was effective from 1 January 2018 and the overall impact to Group was immaterial.

Other than the above there were no new standards or amendments that had a material impact on the operations of the
Group.
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Standards issued but not yet effective at year end
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are issued but not yet effective for period ended 31
December 2018. Those which may be relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these
standards early. These will be adopted in the period that they become mandatory.

IFRS 16 Leases
IASB and FASB decided that lessees should be required to recognise assets and liabilities arising from all leases (with
limited exceptions) on the balance sheet. The model reflects that, at the start of a lease, the lessee obtains the right to
use an asset for a period of time and has an obligation to pay for that right. A lessee measures lease liabilities at the
present value of future lease payments. A lessee measures lease assets, initially at the same amount as lease liabilities,
and also includes costs directly related to entering into the lease. Lease assets are amortised in a similar way to other
assets such as property, plant and equipment. This approach will result in a more faithful representation of a lessee's
assets and liabilities and, together with enhanced disclosures, will provide greater transparency of a lessee's financial
leverage and capital employed. IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
and the Group is in the process of assessing the potential impact to the financial statements.

Other standards/amendments
consolidated

financial statements:

Presentation of financial statements Amendments to IAS 1 effective 1 January 2020.
Employee benefits Amendments to IAS 19 effective 1 January 2019
Uncertainty over income tax treatments IFRIC 23 effective 1 January 2019
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business combinations effective 1 January 2020
Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instruments effective 1 January 2019
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Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Impairment
Transition

Impact of opening reserves on transition to IFRS 9
Balance at 31

December
2017

IFRS 9
transitional
adjustments

Adjusted
balance at

1 January 2018

849,845 - 849,845
(680,417) - (680,417)

39,607 - 39,607
38,840 - 38,840

3,709,308 (140,818) 3,568,490
3,957,183 (140,818) 3,816,365

313,309 (11,043) 302,266
4,270,492 (151,861) 4,118,631

Segment wise reconciliation of the closing IAS 39 Impairment Provision to the opening IFRS 9 Provision is given below.

Portfolio
impairment

Specific
impairment

Total IAS 39
provision

Stage 1: 12-
month ECL
allowance

Stage 2:
Lifetime ECL

not credit-
impaired

Stage 3:
Lifetime

ECL
allowance

impaired

Total ECL
on 1
January
2018

ECL
impact

Financial assets
Botswana 14,992 132,883 147,875 26,982 18,945 179,047 224,974 (77,099)
Namibia 2,351 8,049 10,400 2,943 549 3,761 7,253 3,147
Mozambique 3,122 10,449 13,571 3,755 678 11,066 15,499 (1,928)
Other Southern Africa 1,675 7,238 8,914 5,876 924 12,369 19,169 (10,255)
Tanzania 31,670 68,137 99,807 33,395 21,239 106,435 161,069 (61,262)
Other East Africa 54,383 33,177 87,560 19,808 14,380 87,441 121,629 (34,069)
West Africa 28,793 5,480 34,273 13,390 3,598 27,693 44,681 (10,408)

Total 136,986 265,414 402,400 106,149 60,313 427,812 594,274 (191,874)

At 31st
December 2018

(IFRS 9)

At 1st January
2018

(IFRS 9)
P'000 P'000

Gross advances to customers 9,541,966 8,171,304
Of which stage 1 and 2 8,808,593 7,617,262
Of which stage 3 733,373 554,042

Expected credit loss provisions (843,135) (594,274)
Of which stage 1 and 2 (268,641) (166,462)
Of which stage 3 (574,494) (427,812)

Net advances to customers 8,698,831 7,577,030
Of which stage 1 and 2 8,539,952 7,450,800
Of which stage 3 158,879 126,230

Impairment (ECL ) coverage ratio 9% 7%
NPL (Stage 3 ) coverage ratio 115% 107%

IFRS 9 ECL Provisions at 1 January 2018

Maximum exposure to credit risk

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, Letshego Group has elected not to restate comparative figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities at the date of transition have been recognised in the opening retained earnings and other reserves at 1 January 2018. The
following table illustrates the impact on opening reserves on transition to IFRS 9.

Share based payment reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Operating Segments
31 December 2018

P'000

IAS 39 Impairment Provisions at 31 December 2017

P'000

Shareholder's equity
Stated Capital
Foreign currency translation reserve
Legal reserve
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1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

1.1 Introduction and overview

1.2 Strategic risk

risks and protects the stability of the Group. It also acts as a tool for planning systematically about the future and identifying
opportunities.

In addition to the above board committees, the Group has the following Management Committees to assist the Board in the
effective management of risk:

The Group Risk and Assurance Function and the Legal and Compliance Function were restructured during 2017 to report
under the Group Governance, Risk, Legal and Compliance Function. This function remains independent of the business
functions with the Group Internal Audit function reporting directly to the Group Audit Committee. The Group Head of
Governance, Risk, Legal and Compliance assumed the responsibility for the implementation of the Group ERM framework
(that includes the Legal and Compliance Framework) and the Group Governance Framework approved by the Board. Group
Internal Audit is responsible for providing independent assurance that the overall Governance, ERM and IT Governance
frameworks are adequately designed, implemented and monitored. Within the regular audit activity, Group Internal Audit is
also responsible for providing assurance that the systems of internal control are operating effectively.

adverse business decisions and implementation of strategies which are inconsistent with internal factors and the external
environment.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Significant progress was made during the year in embedding the enhanced Enterprise-wide Risk Management (ERM)
framework across the Group. The ERM framework emphasises the five key elements that the Group would like to achieve and
maintain namely, adequate board oversight, adequate senior management oversight, sound risk management policies and
operating procedures, strong risk measurement, monitoring and control capabilities and adequate internal controls.

The primary risks to which the Group is exposed and which it continues to effectively manage are detailed below.

Letshego Holdings Limited continued to maintain a strong risk management culture in response to the changing
operating environment in order to deliver the Group's objectives.

The Group Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for ensuring that an adequate risk management system is
established and maintained. The Board delegated its responsibilities to the following Board Committees and the terms of
reference are outlined in the Board Charter:
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1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
1.2 Strategic risk (continued)

1.3 Financial risk

1.3.1 Credit risk

Key metrics YoY Trend 2018 2017
Growth in gross advances to customers (%) 17% 17%
Loan loss Rate (%) 4.1% 3.1%
Non-performing loans as a percentage (%) of gross advances 7.1% 6.8%
Non-performing loans coverage ratio (%) 115% 70%

Impairment

Write-off policy

The Group recognizes possible events or future changes that could have a negative impact on the credit portfolios and affect the ability to generate
more business. Stress testing is a requirement for all our deposit taking subsidiaries and now forms an integral part of our overall governance and risk culture
in the Group. This feeds into the decision making process at management and Board level.

In order to effectively manage strategic risk, the Board of Directors and the Group Management Committee / Exco established appropriate internal structures
for implementation of strategic plans. The Group strategic plans are supported by appropriate organisational and functional structures, skilled and experienced
personnel, as well as risk monitoring and controlling systems.

According to the reporting structures, reputational risk is a primary risk categorized under strategic risk. Reputational risk arises when a situation,
occurrence, business practice or event has the potential to materially influence the public and perceived trust and confidence in the Group or its

We adhere to rules / legislation around affordability. In most countries in the Group an independent or ensures that affordability
rules are adhered to in addition to internal controls in place.

Credit risk is the risk that a borrower or counterparty will fail to meet obligations in accordance with agreed terms. The Group is exposed to credit risk from a
number of financial instruments such as loans and inter-bank transactions from its subsidiaries.

The Group offers credit insurance to all its clients, which covers the repayment of the outstanding capital balances on the loan to Group in the event of death
or permanent disability of the customer. In addition, comprehensive insurance cover is in place in certain markets covering such risks as loss of employment,
employer default, absconding and even temporary disability. Further to this, for part of the customer advances portfolio that is not extended through deduction
from source, the Group applies Credit scoring and customer education in advance of the extension of credit to customers and conduct regular reviews of the
credit portfolio.

During 2017, the Group Business Strategy was cascaded throughout the subsidiaries to ensure that their strategies are fully aligned to the group strategy and
risk appetite. The Group is undergoing a significant change process through the focus on customer centric change culture to ensure that we are adequately
equipped to deliver our strategic agenda.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the management of credit risk and has delegated responsibility for the oversight of credit risk to the Group
Risk Management Committee and Country Management Committees. It is the responsibility of Group Credit Risk and each CEO to ensure that the
policies regarding credit risk, credit scoring, collateral contribution, affordability levels and minimum take home pay is complied with at all times. The Group
manages credit risk in accordance with its credit risk policies, guidelines and procedures which provide for the maintenance of a strong culture of responsible
lending that promotes inclusive finance.

Restructuring is expected to minimise future risk of default. Examples are where clients are in financial difficulty, either caused by external or internal factors
such as disability/death/theft/accidents/changes in Government policies.

No loan may be restructured more than twice (system controlled). Loans restructured a second time are classified as and provisions raised
accordingly.

Letshego does rephase (re-age) accounts where instalments are missed, through no fault of the borrower, and subsequently reinstated due to operational
issues. Rephasement involves altering the end date of the loan but not the number of repayments or the loan amount.

Full year 2018 impairment charge is P361m, an increase from 2017: P237million with the loan loss rate increasing from 3.1% to 4.1%. The increase has been
driven by transition to IFRS 9 with an impact of P192 million. There has been a charge in geographic and business risk with weaker credit risk quality evident
in the East and West Africa region . Overall non-performing loan Impairment coverage increased from 70% to 115% from 2017 to 2018, with non-performing
loans as a percentage of the total loan book increasing year on year from 6.8% in 2017 to 7.1% in 2018.

The Group subsidiaries write off loan balances, and any related allowances for impairment losses, when there is determination that the loan is uncollectible.
This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the financial position such that the
borrower can no longer pay the obligation or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. All workable written off
accounts are fully followed up for recovery through internal debt collection and third party collection partners. The group write offs an account when in
Contractual deliquency 12 (CD12 ) i.e. 12 payments in arrears and the policy hasnt been changed with the implementation of IFRS 9.
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1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

1.3.1 Credit risk (continued)

General steps considered by Group in applying IFRS 9 Impairment

1. Establish the appropriate definition of default
2. Determine the level of assessment (individual vs. collective assessment)
3. Determine indicators/measures of significant increase in credit risk
4. Define the thresholds for significant increase in credit risk

6. Identify relevant forward-looking information and macro-economic factors
7. Identify appropriate sources of relevant forward-looking information and macro-economic factors
8. Incorporate forward-looking information and multiple scenarios in staging assessments of loans
9. Stage loans based on the forward-looking assessment of significant increase in credit risk
10. Determine the method to be used for measuring Expected Credit Losses

12. Establish the respective Probability of Default for loans in Stage 1 and Stage 2
13. Calculate the Exposure at Default
14. Identify relevant collateral and credit enhancements
15. Develop calculations for Loss Given Default (incorporating collateral and credit enhancements)
16. Incorporate forward-looking information and multiple scenarios in staging assessments of loans
17. Consider the time value of money and calculate Expected Credit Losses
18. Identify modifications that occurred during the period and determine if each modification results in derecognition or no derecognition
19. Calculate the modification gain or loss and include the modified loan (or new loan)
20. Establish and document the appropriate processes, internal controls and governance for estimating Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

Determining a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition

The IFRS 9 requirements for the staging of loans is summarized in the two diagrams below

Diagram 1

Impairment : IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The overlay approach followed by Group is outlined below:

The introduction of the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, implemented on 1 January 2018, requires impairment loss allowances to be considered
on an expected credit loss basis and on a broader scope of financial instruments than is the case under IAS 39 and as a result has a material impact on the
financial condition. Measurement involves increased complex judgement and risk review.

The impairment requirements are complex and require management judgements, estimates and assumptions. Key concepts and management judgements taken into
consideration are as below;

IFRS 9 requires the recognition of 12 month expected credit losses (the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default events that are expected within 12 months of
the reporting date) if credit risk has not significantly increased since initial recognition (stage 1), and lifetime expected credit losses for financial instruments for which the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) or which are credit impaired (stage 3).Group will assess when a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred based on quantitative and qualitative assessments.

The following steps illustrates the general steps that Letshego are considering when implementing IFRS 9 Impairment.

Indicators of SICR include any of the following:

of the sponsoring employer, etc.

Two types of PDs are considered under IFRS 9:

than 12 months). This is used to calculate 12-month ECL, which are applicable to Stage 1 financial instruments.

Exposures will move back to stage 1 once they no longer meet the criteria for a significant increase in credit risk and when any cure criteria used for credit risk
management are met. This is subject to all payments being up to date and the customer evidencing ability and willingness to maintain future payments.
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1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

1.3.1 Credit risk (continued)

The IFRS 9 requirements for the staging of loans is summarized in the two diagrams below (continued)

Diagram 2

Forward-looking information

Definition of default, credit impaired assets, write-offs, and interest income recognition

Discounting

Modelling techniques

Renegotiated loans treatment

The Group has performed historical analysis and identified key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECLs at subsidiary level. These economic variables are
approved by the credit committee.

Credit impairment is expected to be when the exposure has defaulted which is also anticipated to align to when an exposure is identified as individually impaired under the
incurred loss model of IAS 39. Write-off polices are not expected to change from IAS 39. Write-off polices are not expected to change from IAS 39.

Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate (EIR) at initial recognition or an approximation thereof and consistent with income recognition. For loan
commitments the EIR is that rate that is expected to apply when the loan is drawn down and a financial asset is recognised.

Expected credit losses (ECL) are calculated by multiplying three main components, being the PD, LGD and the EAD, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For
the IFRS 9 impairment assessment, Group Impairment Models are used to determine the PD, LGD and EAD. For stage 2 and 3, Group applies lifetime PDs but uses 12
month PDs for stage 1. The ECL drivers of PD, EAD and LGD are modelled at an account level which considers vintage, among other credit factors. Also, the assessment
of significant increase in credit risk is based on the initial lifetime PD curve, which accounts for the different credit risk underwritten over time.

Both performing and non-performing restructured assets are classified as stage 3 except where it is established that the concession granted has not resulted in diminished
financial obligation and that no other regulatory definitions of default criteria has been triggered, in which case the asset is classified as stage 2. The minimum probationary
period is 6 months to move to cure state.

The IFRS 9 measure of ECL is an unbiased probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and using reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. IFRS 9 requires the use of forward-looking factors, or predictive indicators, in the calculation of ECL, including the staging assessment.

Forward-looking information inherently involves management judgment in determining key inputs such as economic variables that affect PD, LGD and Exposure at Default
(EAD) risk factors of a loan, rating category or portfolio, as the case may be, as well as the forecasted values of those risk factors in one, two or more years forward
(depending on the expected life of the portfolio).

Default is not defined under IFRS 9.The Group is responsible for defining this for themselves and it should be based upon its own definition used in the Group's internal
risk management. Careful consideration of how default is defined is important as the definition impacts the calculation of PDs, LGDs and EADs, hence impacting the ECL
results.
The simplest definition is that of failure to meet a scheduled payment of principal or interest, however, that definition has modifications depending upon the loan product.
The definition of default has to be consistent with that used for internal credit risk management purposes for the relevant financial instrument and has to consider
qualitative indicators, e.g., breaches of covenants, when appropriate. Inability to pay may also be considered in making the qualitative assessment of default.
Indications of inability to pay include:
o the credit obligation is placed on non-accrued status;

o the Group sells the credit obligation or receivable at a material credit related economic loss;
o the Group agrees to a distressed restructuring resulting in a material credit related diminished asset stemming from such actions as material forgiveness or
postponement of payments or repayments of amount owing;

There is a rebuttable presumption within the standard that default does occur once a loan is more than 90 days past due, the Group has adopted this presumption.
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1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

1.3.1 Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk
(a) Advances to customers

31 December 2018 Gross Specific Portfolio Net Security
Advances Provision Provision Advances Held

P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000

Southern Africa 6,706,990 (279,222) (32,301) 6,395,467 -
East and West Africa 2,834,976 (274,850) (256,762) 2,303,364 (27,028)

9,541,966 (554,072) (289,063) 8,698,831 (27,028)

31 December 2017 Gross Specific Portfolio Net Security
advances provision provision advances held

P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000

Southern Africa 6,215,928 (158,620) (22,140) 6,035,167 -
East and West Africa 1,955,376 (106,794) (114,846) 1,733,737 (27,319)

8,171,304 (265,414) (136,986) 7,768,904 (27,319)

31 December 31 December
(b) Others 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 1,188,402 492,367
Other receivable accounts 212,701 168,344
Available-for-sale financial asset 53,591 53,591

1,454,694 714,302

Credit quality
Group asset quality has deteriorated with non-performing loans (NPLs) rising to 7.1% (FY 2018) compared to 6.8% (FY 2017). While there
is a rise in NPLs across the Group, the increase is more pronounced in East and West Africa which have higher risk products in the
microfinance and informal portfolios. NPL impairment coverage ratios have increased to 115% (FY 2018) in comparison to 70% (FY 2017)
at the back of full implementation of IFRS 9.
Key risks:
East and West higher NPLs is also a result of slower economic activity in these markets which has put pressure on disposable
income. These economic constraints are evident in East and West Africa where we are seeing continued deterioration in portfolio quality
despite significant efforts in portfolio management as well as collections and recoveries.

Security held relates to cash received as security for advances to customers and is held until the customer loan is fully settled, at which
point the balance is refunded to the customer (note 13).
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1

1.3.1 Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality (continued)

Formal: - these are government and non-government payroll deduction at source.

Micro finance:

Informal: - short-term loans via mobile platforms

Analysis of exposure by segment as at 31 December 2018

Formal Micro finance Informal
Total gross

advances
P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000

Southern Africa 6,688,697 18,293 - 6,706,990
East and West Africa 1,397,507 930,497 506,972 2,834,976
Gross advances 8,086,204 948,790 506,972 9,541,966

Impairment provision (573,989) (149,865) (119,281) (843,135)

Net advances 7,512,215 798,925 387,691 8,698,831

Analysis of exposure by segment as at 31 December 2017

Formal Micro finance Informal
Total gross

advances
P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000

Southern Africa 6,213,450 2,478 - 6,215,928
East and West Africa 1,068,566 840,064 46,746 1,955,376

Gross advances 7,282,016 842,542 46,746 8,171,304

Impairment provision (251,863) (145,980) (4,557) (402,400)

Net advances 7,030,153 696,562 42,189 7,768,904

Stage 1: Performing

Stage 2 : Underperforming

31 December 2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total ECL

Southern Africa P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Formal 33,094 26,975 247,299 307,368
Micro finance 579 607 2,969 4,155

33,673 27,583 250,268 311,523

East and West Africa
Formal 33,964 17,065 215,592 266,621
Micro finance 30,303 34,151 81,255 145,709
Informal 70,055 21,847 27,379 119,281

134,322 73,063 324,226 531,611

Total Portfolio
Formal 67,057 44,040 462,891 573,988
Micro finance 30,882 34,759 84,223 149,864
Informal 70,055 21,847 27,379 119,281

167,994 100,646 574,493 843,133

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The table below presents an analysis of the Group's gross advances based on the customer segments to which the Group is exposed:

The table below presents an analysis by geographic location of the expected credit loss (ECL):

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) are categorised as either , or

- micro and small entrepreneurs mainly associated with health, housing, agriculture and education segments.

- when a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition has not occurred, a 12-month ECL is recognised for all Stage 1 financial assets.
This requirement did not exist under IAS 39 and has resulted in higher impairment provisions as an ECL has been recognised on all performing
financial assets.

- when a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition has occurred, a lifetime ECL is recognised. This concept did not exist under IAS 39
and therefore it will result in an increased impairment provision as a result of recognising a lifetime ECL for financial assets that are not considered to
be credit impaired.

Stage 3: Non-Performing / Impaired
- when objective evidence exists that an asset is credit impaired, a lifetime ECL is recognised. This is similar to the incurred loss approach under IAS

Expected Credit Loss
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1.3.1 Credit risk (continued)

1 January 2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total ECL

Southern Africa P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Formal 39,551 20,967 204,809 265,327
Micro finance 5 129 1,434 1,567

39,556 21,096 206,243 266,894

East and West Africa
Formal 30,507 27,606 129,789 187,902
Micro finance 34,002 10,954 91,780 136,736
Informal 2,083 657 - 2,740

66,592 39,217 221,569 327,378

Total Portfolio
Formal 70,058 48,573 334,598 453,229
Micro finance 34,008 11,083 93,214 138,305
Informal 2,083 657 - 2,740

106,149 60,313 427,812 594,274

31 December 2018 Up-to-date 1-30 days past
due

31-60 days
past due

61-90 days past
due

91 or more days past
due

Total Gross
advances

Southern Africa P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Formal 5,886,383 286,587 74,249 62,880 378,598 6,688,697
Micro finance 12,122 1,800 598 511 3,262 18,293

5,898,505 288,387 74,847 63,391 381,860 6,706,990

East and West Africa
Formal 1,044,612 87,784 55,171 30,691 179,249 1,397,507
Micro finance 647,799 138,666 33,773 21,101 89,158 930,497
Informal 377,513 53,304 28,371 20,404 27,380 506,972

2,069,924 279,754 117,315 72,196 295,787 2,834,976

31 December 2017 Up-to-date 1-30 days past
due

31-60 days
past due

61-90 days past
due

91 or more days past
due

Total Gross
advances

Southern Africa P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Formal 5,328,644 444,258 66,472 49,383 324,693 6,213,450
Micro finance 125 304 158 204 1,687 2,478

5,328,769 444,562 66,630 49,587 326,380 6,215,928
East and West Africa
Formal 734,581 83,693 52,993 42,937 154,362 1,068,566
Micro finance 642,596 87,731 21,452 14,985 73,300 840,064
Informal 46,746 - - - - 46,746

1,423,923 171,424 74,445 57,922 227,662 1,955,376

The table below presents an analysis by geographic location of the credit quality based on staging:

The table below presents an analysis by geographic location of the credit quality of advances based on arrears:

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Expected Credit Loss
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1.3.1 Credit risk (continued)

2018 2017
LGD LGD

Southern Africa 54% 45%
East and West Africa 79% 90%

31 December 2018 PD 0 PD 1 PD 2 PD 3
Southern Africa 2% 5% 16% 27%
East and West Africa 7% 21% 36% 45%

31 December 2017 PD 0 PD 1 PD 2 PD 3
Southern Africa 1% 4% 21% 39%
East and West Africa 3% 15% 39% 55%

31 December 2018 PD 0 PD 1 PD 2 PD 3
Southern Africa 2% 6% 22% 35%
East and West Africa 9% 26% 43% 50%

31 December 2017 PD 0 PD 1 PD 2 PD 3
Southern Africa 1% 4% 21% 39%
East and West Africa 3% 15% 39% 55%

PD 0 - up to date
PD 1 - 1 - 30 days past due
PD 2 - 31 - 60 days past due
PD 3 - 61 - 90 days past due

Financial assets renegotiated
Restructuring

31 December 2018
Total gross
advances

Restructured
loans

Expected Credit Loss
held on Restructured

loans
Restructured

P'000 P'000 %
Southern Africa 6,706,990 15,945 14,781 0.2
East and West Africa 2,834,976 21,730 17,384 0.8

9,541,966 37,675 32,165 0.4

Rephasing

Rephased loans analysis

31 December 2018
Total gross
advances

Rephased
loans

Expected Credit Loss
held on Rephased

loans
Rephased

P'000 P'000 %
Southern Africa 6,706,990 218,602 153,021 3.3%
East and West Africa 2,834,976 57,608 40,326 2.0%

9,541,966 276,210 193,347 2.9%

31 December 2017
Total gross
advances

Rephased
loans

Expected Credit Loss
held on Rephased

Rephased

P'000 P'000 %
Southern Africa 6,215,928 637,632 31,882 10.3%
East and West Africa 1,955,376 91,698 91,698 4.7%

8,171,304 729,330 123,579 8.9%

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, modification and deferral of payments . Following restructuring a previously
overdue/delinquent loan is reset to current/normal status and managed together with other similar accounts .There are Group restructuring policies in
place and these are kept under continuous review. As at 31 December 2017, there were no restructured loans . Note below position as at 31
December 2018. Restructured facilities are treated differently under IFRS 9 .

LGD represents an estimate of the percentage of EAD that will not be recovered, should the obligor default occur and below is an analysis by
segments. However for Southern Africa, Namibia and Mozambique have credit insurance in place and for the year ended 31 December 2018 this was
included as part of recoveries in the calculation of LGD's.

Segments

The Group however does rephase (re-age) accounts where installments are missed, through no fault of the borrower, and subsequently reinstated
due to operational issues. Rephasement involves altering the end date of the loan but not the number or amount of the installments. Refer to the
analysis below.

PD represent an estimate of the probability that balances in less than 90 days categories would fall into default (91 or more days past due).

12 month PD

12 month PD

Lifetime PD

Lifetime PD
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1.3.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk framework and governance

Cash flow and maturity profile analysis

From 1 to 12
months

From 1 year to
3 years

From 3 years
and above

Total

Customer deposits 497,718 - - 497,718
Cash collateral 27,028 - - 27,028
Trade and other payables 398,759 - - 398,759
Borrowings 1,881,408 3,606,120 1,325,176 6,812,704

2,804,913 3,606,120 1,325,176 7,736,209

From 1 to 12
months

From 1 year to
3 years

From 3 years
and above

Total

Customer deposits 228,432 - - 228,432
Cash collateral 27,319 - - 27,319
Trade and other payables 189,379 - - 189,379
Borrowings 2,279,069 1,745,272 976,302 5,000,643

2,724,199 1,745,272 976,302 5,445,773

The subsidiaries with deposit taking licenses are required to conduct stress testing on a regular basis to ensure that they have adequate liquidity
to withstand stressed conditions. This is done in line with the local regulatory requirements in the countries in which the Group operates.

Liquidity risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group arising from its inability to fund increases in assets and/or meet obligations as they fall due. The
formality and sophistication of the liquidity risk management processes reflect the nature, size and complexity of its activities. The Group has a
thorough understanding of the factors that could give rise to liquidity risk and has put in place mitigating controls.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The framework for managing liquidity risk is anchored on an effective board and senior management oversight, formulation of a liquidity strategy,
adequate policies and procedures, effective internal controls and independent reviews, as well as a sound process for identifying, measuring, monitoring
and controlling liquidity risk.

The Group does not treat liquidity risk in isolation as it is often triggered by consequences of other financial risks such as credit risk and market risk. The
liquidity risk management framework is therefore designed to ensure that its subsidiaries have adequate liquidity to withstand any stressed

conditions. To achieve this objective, the Board of Directors through the subsidiaries boards is ultimately responsible for liquidity risk management. The
responsibility for managing the daily funding requirements is delegated to the Head of Group ALM and Country Heads of Finance respectively with
independent day to day monitoring being provided by Group Governance, Risk, Legal and Compliance functions.

The Liquidity Risk Management Policy which was enhanced during the year is supported by a robust Liquidity Contingency Plan. This is to
ensure the safety, soundness and compliance with regulatory requirements in countries in which it operates. The plans clearly outline early
warning indicators which are supported by clear and decisive crisis response strategies. The crisis response strategies are created around the relevant
crisis management structures and address both specific and market crises relative to the size of the entity.

The table below analyses Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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1.3.3

31 December 2018

Buckets Total
Rate sensitive assets
Short term investments 277,445 - - - 277,445
Loans and advances to customers 387,691 596,423 1,325,181 6,389,537 8,698,832

665,136 596,423 1,325,181 6,389,537 8,976,277

Rate sensitive financial liabilities
Customer deposits 56,297 441,421 - - 497,718
Borrowings 2,072,900 1,819,891 961,076 475,452 5,329,319

2,129,197 2,261,312 961,076 475,452 5,827,037

Gap (1,464,061) (1,664,889) 364,105 5,914,085 3,149,240

Cumulative Gap (1,464,061) (3,128,950) (2,764,845) 3,149,240

31 December 2017

Buckets Total
Rate sensitive assets
Short term investments 10,967 14,437 - - 25,404
Loans and advances to customers 1,254 308,469 1,187,029 6,272,152 7,768,904

12,221 322,906 1,187,029 6,272,152 7,794,308

Rate sensitive financial liabilities
Customer deposits 65,043 162,485 904 - 228,432
Borrowings 1,387,850 1,623,883 423,522 549,352 3,984,607

1,452,893 1,786,368 424,426 549,352 4,213,039

Gap (1,440,672) (1,463,462) 762,603 5,722,800 3,581,269

Cumulative Gap (1,440,672) (2,904,135) (2,141,531) 3,581,269

Interest rate risk analysis is based on time to pricing and time to maturity. Interest rate risk arising from the
assets and liabilities remained within the risk appetite during the year. The table below shows the
repricing gap as at 31 December 2018.

Foreign exchange rate risk is the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from adverse movements in
currency exchange rates. The potential for loss arises from the process of revaluing foreign currency positions on both
on- and off- balance sheet items, in Botswana Pula terms. This risk is largely concentrated at Group Level.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will affect the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument. Market risk exists wherever the Letshego Holdings Limited (the
Group) or its subsidiaries have trading, banking or investment positions.

Interest rate risk

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market risk

Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group uses a collection of risk measurement methodologies to assess market risk that include loss triggers,
repricing gap and traditional risk management measures. The market risk is largely concentrated on foreign
exchange, interest rate risk and from its investments.

Foreign exchange gains for the year ended 31 December 2018 were P7.8m (December 2017 P4.2m).This gain resulted
mainly from appreciation of the currencies that the group operates against the Botswana Pula and this was mainly driven
by the South African Rand on the net liablity position held by the Group at year end.

As at 31 December 2018 if the foreign currencies that the Group is exposed to had weakened or strengthened by 1%
against the respective functional currencies with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been
P1.2 million (2017: P8.6 million) higher / lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains and losses on translation of
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities
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1.3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market risk (continued)

The market risk framework outlines or discloses the methodology by which the Group identifies, measures, monitors, controls and reports on its
market risk profile for every operation overseen by the Group. Effective board oversight of the exposure to Market Risk is the cornerstone
of an effective market risk management process. The Board and Senior Management understands the nature and level of market risk assumed by
the Group and its subsidiaries and how this risk profile fits within the overall business strategies. The Group's Foreign Exchange Risk Policy was
reviewed and approved by the Board during 2017.

The Board of Directors is ultimately accountable and approves the market risk appetite for all types of market risk. The Board delegated the
effective management of market risk to the Group Risk Committee and Group Asset and Liability Management Committee. On a day-to-day basis,
market risk exposures are managed by the Head of Group ALM and appropriate management reports are generated. Group Governance, Risk,
Legal and Compliance function provides independent oversight.

Generally, measurement tools in use at any point in time are commensurate with the scale, complexity, and nature of business activities and
positions held by the Group or its subsidiaries. The tools and techniques used to measure and control market risk include the repricing gap,
scenario analysis on net interest income, stop loss limits and stress testing. In addition, the Group also performs ratio analysis on the key ratios of
the Group and each subsidiary.
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1

1.4 Operational risks

These risks are managed by the Group through the following key measures:

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Operational Risk Management framework comprises several elements of which the Risk and Control Self Assessments (RCSAs),
Key Risk Indicators (KRI) and Incident Management (IM) are the primary components.

The purpose of the RCSA process is to identify and effectively manage operational risks that could jeopardise the achievement of business
objectives. The RCSA process identifies the appropriate controls to mitigate risk, and allows the Group Support functions and subsidiaries to rate
the level of inherent as well as residual risk taking consideration of the adequacy and effectiveness of controls.

Each year, an annual RCSA plan is approved for implementation. All key group and subsidiary functions are required to conduct RCSAs and all
the risks identified logged in the risk registers for effective tracking and resolution.

Key Risk Indicators (KRI's) are defined by the Group as indicators that provide early warning of a change in risk exposure and highlight control
weaknesses or potential failures. All Group Support functions and subsidiaries are required to establish relevant measures (qualitative and
quantitative) which will enable them to regularly monitor their exposure to operational risk.

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external
events. Operational risk exists in all products and business activities.

The Group's approach to managing operational risk is to implement simple and appropriate fit for purpose operational risk practices that assist
the originators of risk events to understand their inherent risk and reduce their risk profile, in line with the Group's risk appetite, while maximizing

The operational risk management framework provides the mechanism for the overall operational risk strategic direction and ensures that an
effective operational risk management and measurement process is adopted throughout the Group.

The ultimate responsibility for operational risk management rests with the Board of Directors. To discharge this responsibility, the Group Risk
Committee (GRC) understands the major aspects of the operational risk as a distinct category of risk that should be managed and
approves the operational risk strategy as part of a comprehensive risk management strategy for the Group. GRC meets on a quarterly basis to
review all other major risks including operational risks. At Management level, the Group Risk Management Committee reviews and monitors
significant operational risk events and ensure that the control environment is adequate to prevent recurrence.

The operational risk management framework includes qualitative and quantitative methodologies and tools to assist management to identify,
assess and monitor operational risks and to provide management with information for determining appropriate controls and mitigating measures.

The Group identifies and assesses operational risk inherent in all material products, activities, processes and systems. It ensures that before new
solutions (products), activities, processes and systems are introduced or undertaken, the operational risk inherent in them is subjected to
adequate assessment by the Group Innovation Management Committee.

The Group conducts risk assessments in line with the risk appetite based on core processes. The Group Operational Risk Manual has
been designed to cover the operational risk processes in detail and it seeks to embed a process by which key operational risk events, key causes
and key controls are identified, assessed and reported in a consistent and structured manner within the Group.

43



LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1

1.4 Operational risks (continued)

1.5 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value and disclosed by category

Available-
for-sale

financial
asset

Fair value -
through profit

and loss

Financial
assets at

amortised
cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost

Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000

31 December 2018

Financial assets measured at fair value

Available-for-sale-financial asset 53,591 - - - 53,591 - - 53,591 53,591

Cash and cash equivalents - - 1,188,402 - 1,188,402
Advances to customers - - 8,698,831 - 8,698,831
Other receivables - - 212,701 - 212,701

- - 10,099,934 - 10,099,934

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Borrowings - interest rate swap - 13,240 - - 13,240 - 13,240 - 13,240

Trade and other payables - - - 398,759 398,759
Customer deposits - - - 497,718 497,718
Cash collateral - - - 27,028 27,028
Borrowings - - - 5,316,079 5,316,079

- - - 6,239,584 6,239,584

Available-
for-sale

financial
asset

Fair value -
through profit

and loss

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
31 December 2017
Financial assets measured at fair value
Available-for-sale financial asset 53,591 - - - 53,591 - - 53,591 53,591

Cash and cash equivalents - - 492,367 - 492,367
Advances to customers - - 7,768,904 - 7,768,904
Other receivables - - 168,344 - 168,344

- - 8,429,615 - 8,429,615

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Borrowings- interest rate swap - 4,113 - - 4,113 - 4,113 - 4,113

Trade and other payables - - - 189,379 189,379
Customer deposits - - - 228,432 228,432
Cash collateral - - - 27,319 27,319
Borrowings - - - 3,980,494 3,980,494

- - - 4,425,623 4,425,623

The carrying amount of loans and receivables and items measured at amortised cost approximate their fair values.

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group continues to implement operational risk incident reporting in all its subsidiaries during the year. Operational risk incidents are collected, analysed,
monitored and reported in accordance with the Group Incident Management Policy.

The Group continues to embed the Business Continuity Management (BCM) framework during the year to ensure that essential functions of the Group are able to
continue in the event of an attack or adverse circumstances. BCM training covering all staff was conducted during the year via e-learning modules. The responsibility
for testing business continuity plans and simulating crisis management plans at subsidiary level resides with the Country Management Committees.

The Group continues to enhance its risk management systems and processes as part of Basel II implementation in some of the deposit taking subsidiaries. In line

requirements.

Carrying amount Fair value

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not
include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Carrying amount Fair value
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1

1.5 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identifiable assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
Level 3 - Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

Financial instruments measured at fair value
Type Valuation technique

Interest rate swap Fair value cash flow Level 2

Currency swap Fair value cash flow Level 2

Available-for-sale financial asset Since market values are not available from an
observable market, as this is in private equity, the
recent transaction price has been considered as an
approximate to fair value

Level 3 Based on recent price per share

Master netting or similar agreements

1.6 Summary of all financial risks and potential impact

The table below summarises each of the risks raised in this note, along with the anticipated impact should the risks crystallise.

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

P'000 P'000
Interest rate risk
Average cost of borrowings 12.1% 11.8%
Effect of increase in average borrowing cost by 1%
- increase in interest expense 55,905 40,101

Effect on profit before tax 5.5% 4.0%

Currency risk
Effect of BWP appreciation by 1%
- Effective movement in foreign exchange rates 1,164 8,640

Effect on profit before tax 0.1% 0.9%

Summary

Impact of all above risks on profit before tax:
The impact of changes in variables in the opposing direction would be equal and opposite to the values shown above. The Group constantly evaluates these
key risks through the process of governance, devises responses to risks as they arise, that are approved by the Group Management Committee and Board of
Directors.

The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring fair values, as well as significant unobservable inputs used.

The Group enters into derivative transactions under International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting agreements. In general, under
such agreements the amounts owed by each counterparty on a single day in respect of all transactions outstanding in the same currency are aggregated into
a single net amount that is payable by one party to the other.

The ISDA agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial position. This is because the Group does not have any currently
legally enforceable right to offset recognised amounts, because the right to offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of future events such as a default on
the bank loans or other credit events.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Measurement of fair values

Significant unobservable inputs

Discount factor used to derive present
value of cash flow (12.5%)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Based on BWP, EURO and USD risk
free rates.
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2

2.1 Impairment of advances to customers

(+) 5% (-) 5% (+) 5% (-) 5%
Stage 1: 12-month ECL allowance

167,995 175,164 153,676 363,063 73,812

credit-impaired 100,646 105,891 68,452 115,170 62,713

impaired 574,493 619,566 530,444 574,493 574,493

Total 843,134 900,621 752,572 1,052,726 711,018

2.2 Share-based payment transactions

Sensitivity analysis

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

Impact of a 10% deviation 3,014 6,474
Impact of a 25% deviation 7,535 16,185
Impact of a 50% deviation 15,069 32,369

2.3 Recognition of deferred tax asset

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

Movement in deferred tax asset on tax losses
Opening balance 95,079 61,564
Recognised during the year 5,300 41,044
Utilised during the year (1,414) (7,529)
Tax losses not recognised (30,636) -
Tax losses fallen away (18,403) -

Balance at the end of year 49,926 95,079

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The Group operates an equity settled conditional Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). The plan is now only based on non market conditions. These non market
performance conditions are determined by the Remuneration Committee. The number of awards to vest are assessed and adjusted for the attrition in participants as
well as the extent of achievement of those conditions at the reporting dates. The assumptions are that there will be an 60% vesting probability. Although based on
historical experience, the estimated achievement of conditions is considered accurate.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group regularly reviews its loan portfolio (note 4) and makes judgments in determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised in
respect of observable data that may impact on future estimated cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce the differences between loss estimates and loss experience.

Impact on changes in LGD Impact on changes in PD

The Group recognised a deferred tax asset of P212 million (2017: P157 million) in its statement of financiial position. Deferred tax assets arise from recoverable tax
losses and deductible temporary differences such as staff cost provisions and credit impairment provisions and vary based on requirements of the specific tax
jurisdictions in which these losses and differences arise.The ultimate realisation of such deferred tax assets depend largely on the ability of the Group to generate
taxable income in each relevant jurisdiction in order to utilise these losses and differences.

Of the total deferred tax asset, P50 million (2017: P95 million) relates to tax losses in respect of the Group holding company, Letshego Holdings Limited (LHL). Tax
losses in Botswana have to be utilised within five years from the year of origination and during the current financial year P18 million deferred tax fell away as the
Company did not generate suffiicient taxable income. In addition the Group holding company did not recognise deferred tax assets on tax losses amounting to P31
million as it was uncertain whether there were opportunities to generate sufficient taxable profits before these losses expire.

The newly formed Group Tax Committee (GTC) has come up with robust strategies which will ensure that LHL generates substantial income in order to utlise the
losses going forward. They will also be driving the review of the Transfer Pricing Policies to ensure that value is assigned where activities are performed in line with
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) best practice. With the Group Tax Committee at the helm of driving tax compliance and tax
excellence in the Group, the current strategies should see LHL generating adequate taxable income before the tax losses fall away. Refer to analysis below for
Letshego Holdings Limited:

Therefore based on the above an increase in LGD or PD would have an adverse impact to Group profits.

The below summarises the sensitivity analysis on impairment losses as at 31 December 2018 for changes in LGD and PD :

P'000
Existing impairment

Provision

The table below details the impact on the profit following a deviation from the 60% vesting probability.

In the event that more than 60% of the shares vest the impact would be adverse to profit. In the event that less than 60% of the shares vest, the impact
would be favourable to profit.
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2.4 Income tax expense

2.5 Goodwill

Entity Discount rates
Long term

growth rates
Letshego Holdings Namibia Limited 25% 8%
Letshego Tanzania Limited 18% 6%
Letshego Kenya Limited 18% 7%
Letshego Bank (T) Limited 16% 6%
Letshego Microfinance Bank Nigeria Limited 24% 8%
AFB Ghana Plc 24% 6%

31 December 2018

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. The Group recognises liabilities for known tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will be
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.

As required by IAS 36 Impairment of assets, the goodwill was assessed for impairment at year end. This goodwill arose from
acquisition of Letshego Holdings Namibia Limited, Letshego Tanzania Limited, Letshego Kenya Limited, Letshego Bank (T) Limited,
Letshego Microfinance Bank Nigeria Limited and AFB Ghana Plc. For the purpose of assessing goodwill for impairment, the relevant
entities are considered to be cash generating units. Such impairment assessment was done using a discounted cash flow model
incorporating budgets approved by those charged with governance. Cash flows beyond the period covered by approved budgets
were forecasted based on projected growth rates for the relevant cash generating unit. The evaluation was based on a five year
forecast and terminal value.

The Group assessed the recoverable amount of goodwill, and determined that there was sufficient headroom in respect of all cash
generating units with the exception of Letshego Microfinance Bank Nigeria Limited where a P22 million impairment provision was
made during the year.

The recoverable amount of the cash generating units was determined with reference to the value in use. The growth rate is
estimated based on past experience and anticipated future growth. The discount rate used is the weighted average cost of capital
adjusted for specific risks relating to the entity.

The table below shows the discount and growth rates used in calculating the value in use of each cash generating unit:

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has a provision of P45.3 million in an East African subsidiary for potential current income tax
liabilities arising from prior years. This was in response to on-going revenue authority audit that were not finalised at the time of
authorisation of the financial statements.

The Group has reviewed the matters raised by the revenue authority and carried out its own assessment of the potential liabilities
based on currently enacted tax legislation and believe the provision made is adequate to cover any possible exposures.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and in hand 822,897 454,378
Statutory cash reserve 88,060 12,585
Short term investments 277,445 25,404

1,188,402 492,367

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cashflow statements 1,100,342 492,367

4 ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Gross advances to customers 9,541,966 8,171,304
Less : impairment provisions - specific (554,072) (265,414)

: impairment provisions - portfolio (289,063) (136,986)
Net advances to customers 8,698,831 7,768,904

Maturity analysis
Maturing within one year 1,216,284 659,045
Maturing after one year within five years 5,169,353 5,045,433
Maturing after five years 3,156,329 2,466,826

Total gross advances to customers 9,541,966 8,171,304

Impairment of advances
Balance at the beginning of the year 402,400 273,216
Impairment charge for the year 209,914 102,240
Impairment on informal loans 38,947 -
Impact of adoption IFRS 9 191,874 -
Impairment acquired through business combinations - 26,944

Balance at the end of the year 843,135 402,400

Charges to profit or loss
Amounts written off 298,297 274,669
Recoveries during the year (146,720) (139,760)
Impairment adjustment 209,914 102,240

361,491 237,149

5 OTHER RECEIVABLES

Deposits and prepayments 38,909 33,073
Receivable from insurance arrangements 147,331 141,722
Withholding tax and value added tax 881 188
Other receivables 65,370 26,622

252,491 201,605

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

Short term bank deposits constitute amounts held in fixed deposit with external financial institutions. The deposits attract interest
ranging between 1.0% - 5.0% per annum (31 December 2017: 1% - 5.0%). Cash at bank is held with reputable financial institutions
with good credit standing. Statutory reserve relates to cash held by the Central Bank for the respective subsidiaries based on
average customer deposits, and not available for day to day operations.

Certain advances to customers are pledged as security to borrowings as set out in note 14.

An analysis of net advances by credit risk, including related impairment provisions, is contained in Note 1.3.1 to these financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6

Motor Computer Office furniture & Land & Work in
vehicles equipment equipment building progress Total

Cost P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Balance at 1 January 2017 5,937 48,928 64,845 19,718 4,852 144,280
Additions 2,080 15,678 10,771 - 7,268 35,797
Business combination - acquisition 4,073 2,035 7,202 - - 13,310
Disposals (125) (1,132) (2,231) - (255) (3,743)
Forex translation (3,520) (3,615) (11,708) (1,293) 5,403 (14,733)
Balance at 31 December 2017 8,445 61,894 68,879 18,425 17,268 174,911

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2017 4,176 34,636 28,274 1,160 - 68,246
Business combination - acquisition 1,411 1,184 2,504 - - 5,099
Charge for the year 1,435 10,484 11,236 9 - 23,164
Disposals 27 (780) (650) - - (1,403)
Forex translation (2,081) (2,910) (6,145) (1,120) - (12,256)
Balance at 31 December 2017 4,968 42,614 35,219 49 - 82,850

Net book value at
31 December 2017 3,477 19,280 33,660 18,376 17,268 92,061

Motor Computer Office furniture & Land & Work in
vehicles equipment equipment building progress Total

Cost P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Balance at 1 January 2018 8,445 61,894 68,879 18,425 17,268 174,911
Additions 3,325 11,408 7,056 - 4,454 26,243
Transfers - 9,241 1,296 - (10,424) 113
Disposals (1,004) (9,851) (3,063) - (5,487) (19,405)
Forex translation 237 1,869 1,337 (936) (343) 2,164
Balance at 31 December 2018 11,003 74,561 75,505 17,489 5,468 184,026

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2018 4,968 42,614 35,219 49 - 82,850
Charge for the year 1,812 10,199 12,433 - - 24,444
Disposals (729) (4,213) (1,172) - - (6,114)
Forex translation 121 1,760 1,511 (1,078) - 2,314
Balance at 31 December 2018 6,172 50,360 47,991 (1,029) - 103,494

Net book value at
31 December 2018 4,831 24,201 27,514 18,518 5,468 80,532

7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer Brand Core
Software value deposit Total

Cost P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Balance at 1 January 2017 74,837 1,186 10,472 86,495
Additions 6,928 - - 6,928
Business combination - acquisition 5,315 3,749 - 9,064
Disposals - - - -
Forex translation (8,172) (430) (1,374) (9,976)
Balance at 31 December 2017 78,908 4,505 9,098 92,511

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2017 28,075 1,186 4,625 33,886
Charge for the year 8,565 489 582 9,636
Business combination - acquisition 1,711 - - 1,711
Forex translation (8,062) - - (8,062)
Balance at 31 December 2017 30,289 1,675 5,207 37,171

Net book value at
31 December 2017 48,619 2,830 3,891 55,340

Computer Brand Core
Software value deposit Total

Cost P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Balance at 1 January 2018 78,908 4,505 9,098 92,511
Additions 3,648 - - 3,648
Transfer from work in progress (113) - - (113)
Disposals (2,788) - - (2,788)
Forex translation 497 (9) 342 830
Balance at 31 December 2018 80,152 4,496 9,440 94,088

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 January 2018 30,289 1,675 5,207 37,171
Charge for the year 10,632 458 757 11,847
Disposals (865) - - (865)
Forex translation 447 - - 447
Balance at 31 December 2018 40,503 2,133 5,964 48,600

Net book value at
31 December 2018 39,649 2,363 3,476 45,488

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Brand value relates to Ghana which was acquired in 2017 and is being amortised over an expected useful life of 7 years. Core deposit is amortised over its useful
life of 8 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

8 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET

Investment 53,591 53,591

9 GOODWILL 31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Goodwill on the acquisition of:
Letshego Holdings Namibia Limited 22,774 24,336
Letshego Tanzania Limited 1,891 1,781
Letshego Kenya Limited 33,367 30,245
Letshego Bank (T) Limited 15,130 14,250
Letshego Microfinance Bank Nigeria Limited 23,942 42,684
AFB Ghana Plc 9,125 8,984

106,229 122,280

Movement in goodwill
Balance at the beginning of the year 122,280 129,408
Goodwill on acquisition of AFB Ghana Plc - 10,204
Impairment on goodwill (22,000) -
Effect of exchange rate changes 5,949 (17,332)

Balance at the end of the year 106,229 122,280

10 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of AFB (Ghana) Plc

AFB Ghana
Plc

Purchase consideration
Cash paid 90,719

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents 25,864
Advances to customers (note 10.1) 226,274
Prepayment and other assets 3,886
Property, plant and equipment 8,211
Intangible assets - software 3,604
Deferred tax asset 1,025
Brand value 3,749
Trade and other payables (3,787)
Income tax payable (6,821)
Borrowings (181,490)

Net identifiable assets acquired 80,515
Add: Goodwill 10,204
Total 90,719

10.1 Advances to customers

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

11 CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
Demand accounts 29,143 23,069
Savings accounts 110,343 74,674
Call and term deposits 358,232 130,689

497,718 228,432

These are deposits from customers and are short-term in nature.

The Group acquired 3.1% shareholding in a financial services organisation.The fair value of this investment at year end
does not materially vary to its carrying value, hence no fair value gains or losses were recognised in the year.

Goodwill was translated using reporting date exchange rates to reflect the changes in foreign currencies. The Group
assesses the recoverable amount of goodwill in respect of all cash generating units noted above to determine indications
of impairment. In the current year an impairment provision of P22 million was recognised for goodwill arising from
acquisition of Letshego Microfinance Bank Nigeria Limited.

During the prior year, in January 2017 Letshego acquired 100% shareholding in AFB Ghana Plc a deduction at source
business lending to Government employees with a deposit taking license. The financial results of AFB Ghana were were
incorporated in the Group results for the year ended 31 December 2017 financial year for the first time. The purchase
consideration was P91m. AFB Ghana has over 42,000 customers, 233 members of staff and 25 customer access
points. It contributed P119m to Group revenues, P36 million to the pre-tax profits, and its loans to portfolio
was P346 million.

The goodwill is attributable to acquired customer base, economies of scale and synergies expected from combining
operations. This will not be deductible for income tax purposes. However the above Goodwill of P10.2 million has been
revalued to reflect the impact of changes in foreign currencies using the reporting date exchanges rate and the translated
amount is as reflected in (note 9) and the forex impact was P1.2 million.

The fair value of acquired advances to customer is P226 million. The gross contractual receivable amount is P249 million
of which P23 million is expected to be impaired.
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31 December 31 December
2018 2017

12 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables 426,678 210,809
Staff incentive accrual (note 12.1) 65,547 50,942

492,225 261,751

12.1
Balance at the beginning of the year 50,942 37,868
Current period charge (note 21) 54,466 51,174
Paid during the year (39,861) (38,100)

Balance at the end of the year 65,547 50,942

13 CASH COLLATERAL
Balance at the beginning of the year 27,319 39,225
Utilised / received during the year (291) (11,906)

Closing balance 27,028 27,319

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

14 BORROWINGS
Commercial banks 2,504,294 1,684,654
Note programmes 1,787,303 1,910,428
Development Financial Institutions 887,655 253,703
Pension funds 150,067 135,822

Total borrowings 5,329,319 3,984,607

Maturity analysis
Maturing within one year 1,328,235 1,840,416
Maturing after one year within five years 3,729,288 1,807,837
Maturing after five years 271,796 336,354

Total borrowings 5,329,319 3,984,607

Movement in borrowings
Balance at the beginning of the year 3,984,607 3,394,116
Finance obtained from third parties 1,938,071 1,039,889
Repayment of borrowings (638,687) (607,853)
Borrowing acquired through business acquisition - 181,490
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 45,328 (23,035)

Balance at the end of the year 5,329,319 3,984,607

Note programmes

Security

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Movement in staff incentive accrual

Pula 2.6 billion (31 December 2017 P282 million) relates to loans that are secured by a corporate guarantee from Letshego Holdings
Limited. During the current year a number of subsidiaries sourced in-country and foreign funding which was guarnteed by Letshego
Holdings Limited.

Due to the short-term nature of the trade payables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

Cash collateral represents payments made by loanees as security for loans taken. In accordance with the loan agreements, the amounts
are refundable upon the successful repayment of loans by loanees and at the time a loanee leaves the loan scheme. The amounts are
utilised to cover loans in the event of default. This relates only to Letshego Kenya, Rwanda and Uganda subsidiaries.

Pula 2.4 billion (31 December 2017 P2.14 billion) of the borrowings is secured by the advances to customers of:
- Letshego Micro Financial Services (Namibia) (Pty) Limited
- Letshego Financial Services (Pty) Limited (Botswana)
- Letshego Financial Services Swaziland (Pty) Limited
The aggregated net advances to customers of the above is P4.7 billion (31 December 2017: P4.36 billion) by way of a Security Sharing
Agreement.

The Group has issued medium term note programmes of P1.8 billion (2017 1.9 billion) of which P550 million (2017 P630 million) are listed
on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, P300 million (2017 P300 million) on the Botswana Stock Exchange and P524 million (2017 P201
million) on the Ghana Stock exchange at the reporting date .

The Group Security Sharing agreement has the following covenants:
- Bad debts ratio
- Cash collection ratio
- Capitilisation ratio and,
- Secured property ratio.
The Group has complied with all the above debt covenants for both current and prior period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

14 BORROWINGS (continued)

Interest rate

Interest rate swap

Entity Currency P'000
Letshego Holdings Limited Euro 7,000
Letshego Holdings Limited USD 9,000
Letshego Financial Services (Proprietary) Limited USD 9,167

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

15 STATED CAPITAL

862,621 849,845

31 December 2018 Number of shares in
issue

Shares held as
treasury shares

Total number of
shares

Number of shares at the beginning of the year ('000) 2,119,645 24,400 2,144,045
Shares issued during the year ('000) 5,346 (5,346) -

Number of shares at the end of the year ('000) 2,124,991 19,054 2,144,045

31 December 2017 Number of shares in
issue

Shares held as
treasury shares

Total number of
shares

Number of shares at the beginning of the year ('000) 2,134,764 - 2,134,764
Share buy back ('000) (24,400) 24,400 -
Shares issued during the year ('000)

9,281 - 9,281

Number of shares at the end of the year ('000) 2,119,645 24,400 2,144,045

The company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a Botswana financial institution under which it makes periodic payments
on its behalf at an agreed period of time based on a nominal amount of ZAR 335 million. This swap allows for conversion of ZAR floating
rate liability into a ZAR fixed rate liability. The interest rate swap hedges the variable factor of the interest coupons payable on the medium
term note programme listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange.

Pula 2.0 billion (31 December 2017: 2.3 billion) of the borrowings are at fixed interest rates. Pula 3.3 billion (31 December 2017: 1.3 billion)
are loans issued at variable interest rates, linked to each country's prime lending rate.

Letshego Holdings Limited pays the coupon interest on these bonds every quarter and the counter party for the swap will settle the
difference on the fixed rate per swap and the variable coupon payment. Management evaluate the effective cash flow and applicable
payments on the bond coupon and discounts these to calculate the fair value of the interest rate swap. The fair value at 31 December 2018
is P1.654 million unfavourable (2017: P4.113 million) and any movements are recognised through profit or loss.

Issued: 2,144,045,175 ordinary shares of no par value (2017: 2,144,045,175) of which
19,054,190 shares (2017: 24,400,000) are held as treasury shares

In terms of the Group LTIP (note 17), shares with a value of P12.78 million (2017: P22.27 million) vested at Group level. The 5.35 million
shares were issued from shares held as treasury shares and these reduced from 24.40 million to 19.05 million at the end of the year. In the
prior year 9.28 million shares had been issued and these increased the number of shares in issue.

In October 2018, Letshego Holdings Limited and Letshego Financial Services (Proprietary) Limited entered into currency swap agreements
with a local financial institution in respect of foreign currency denominated funding listed below.The currency swap hedges the variable
factor of the capital and interest coupons payable on these. Management evaluates the effective cash flow and applicable payments on the
capital and coupon payments and discounts these to calculate the fair value of the currency swap.

The fair value at 31 December 2018 is P11,586 million unfavourable and this movement was recognised through profit or loss.

During the current year, there was no share back done. Whereas in the prior year 24.40 million ordinary shares were repurchased by the
company at an average price of P1.97 per share amounting to P48.07 million and these are being held as treasury shares and therefore
included in the number of shares above.
Every shareholder shall have one vote for every share held subject to the rights of the holders of any shares entitled to any priority,
preference or special privileges. All dividends shall be declared and paid to the members in proportion to the shares held by them
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

15 STATED CAPITAL (continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Capital adequacy ratio 33% 43%
Return on equity 12% 17%
Debt to equity 131% 93%

16 LEGAL RESERVE 31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Balance at the beginning of the year 39,607 32,189

33,912 7,418

Balance at the end of the year 73,519 39,607

Legal reserve relates to Letshego Financial Services Mozambique and AFB Ghana Plc. Central Bank regulation in
Mozambique is that the company is required to transfer 15% whereas Ghana is required to transfer 50% of its annual profit to
the legal reserve until the reserve is equal to its share capital. This is a non-distributable reserve but may be used to increase
capital.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Certain subsidiaries are regulated for capital requirements by the respective in-country regulators. Group maintains sufficient
capital in its subsidiaries in order to meet the requirements of local jurisdictions. These are monitored constantly and actions
are taken as an when required. During the year the subsidiaries have complied with the capital requirements.

The group monitors its debt to equity ratio and return on equity as key metrics of capital management.

The objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the in the consolidated statement of
financial position, are:

To safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders; and

The Group's capital consists of shareholders' funds (stated capital and reserves) and long term borrowings. The Group
monitors the adequacy of its capital using internally measured benchmarks such as capital adequacy, return on equity, debt to
equity and forecasts of asset and profitability performance. These measures are broadly in line with, or more stringent than,
industry norm. A risk based approach is also adopted whereby balances with counterparties are required to be supported by
capital to a greater extent than other internally held assets.
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

18 INTEREST INCOME
Advances to customers 2,690,423 2,235,902
Other - deposits with banks 27,834 16,734

2,718,257 2,252,636

19 INTEREST EXPENSE
Overdraft facilities and term loans 650,332 474,798
Market to market adjustment on currency and interest rate swap contracts 11,586 -
Foreign exchange gain (7,839) (4,168)

654,079 470,630

20 FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
Administration fees - lending 24,769 31,328
Credit life insurance commission 5,966 7,268

30,735 38,596

20.1 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Early settlement fees 41,241 34,390
Income from insurance arrangements 213,483 182,379
Sundry income 12,697 17,400

267,421 234,169

21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Salaries and wages 316,048 268,326
Staff incentive (note 12.1) 54,466 51,174
Staff pension fund contribution 17,913 13,961

9,725 8,317
Long term incentive plan (7,975) 25,279

390,177 367,057

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

55



LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

22 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Accounting and secretarial fees 1,084 2,197
Advertising 17,421 18,755
Audit fees - audit services 4,675 4,148
Bank charges 7,305 7,599
Computer expenses 18,599 19,948
Consultancy fees 46,116 40,747
Corporate social responsibility 4,138 5,895
Collection commission 82,517 58,909
Data centre decommissioning 5,000 -
Depreciation and amortisation 36,291 32,800

7,105 6,887
Direct cost 27,561 10,795
Government levies 22,876 14,693
Insurance 10,136 11,919
Impairment of goodwill 22,000 -
Office expenses 24,301 19,649
Operating lease rentals - property 48,115 48,864
Other operating expenses 96,377 59,736
- Claim expenses - cell captive 5,726 -
- Directors fees - Subsidiary boards 4,892 3,823
- Entertainment 1,057 944
- IT costs 15,325 10,680
- Loss on disposal of fixed assets 6,351 104
- Motor vehicle expenses 6,192 5,464
- Printing and Stationery 7,673 7,278
- Repairs and Maintenance 3,806 4,417
- Storage costs 1,496 1,292
- Subscriptions and licenses 3,953 2,469
- Other expenses 39,906 23,265
Payroll administration costs 2,066 2,161
Professional fees 42,643 23,980
Telephone and postage 26,471 22,253
Travel 37,361 35,018

590,158 446,953

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

23 TAXATION
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Current taxation 527,094 366,554
- Basic taxation 368,684 302,405
- WHT tax credits adjustments 107,110 64,149
- *Under / over provision in respect of prior years 51,300 -

Deferred tax (17,068) (44,187)
- Origination and reversal of temporary differences (41,778) (44,187)
- Under provision in respect of prior years 24,710 -

510,026 322,367

23.1 Deferred taxation
Balance at the beginning of the year 151,365 106,153
Business combination - acquisition (note 10) - 1,025
IFRS 9 day 1 adjustment 40,013 -
Current year movement 17,068 44,187

Balance at the end of the year 208,446 151,365

Deferred tax assets 211,651 156,655
Deferred tax liabilities (3,205) (5,290)

208,446 151,365

Deferred taxation arises from temporary differences on the following items:

Property and equipment (8,344) 1,333
Share based payment provision 3,991 8,002
Staff incentive provision 15,501 9,158
General impairment provision 137,239 35,165
Taxation losses 59,136 101,325
Deferred rent provision 515 (63)
Leave pay provision 754 1,780
Severance pay 80 91
Deferred income / (expenditure) (251) (6,810)
Prepayments (728) (1,176)
Unrealised exchange gains 553 2,560

208,446 151,365

23.2 Reconciliation of current taxation
Profit before taxation 1,020,508 1,003,613

Tax calculated at Botswana statutory rate of 22% 224,512 220,795
Foreign income taxed at 15% 12,795 11,092
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 59,727 55,615
Expenses and revenues not deductible for tax purposes (19,167) (39,136)
WHT tax credits adjustments 107,110 64,149
Tax losses not recognised and fallen away 49,039 -
Under / over provision in respect of prior years 76,010 9,852

510,026 322,367

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The Group expects to generate sufficient taxable profits to utilise the deferred tax asset based on historical profitability
trends and management judgement on future business prospects.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

* This includes a provision of P45.3 million made in respect of a potential tax exposure of an East African subsidiary.

56



LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

24 EARNINGS PER SHARE

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders 438,639 637,663

Number of shares:
At beginning of period 2,119,645,175 2,134,763,925

- (5,548,493)

4,071,603 7,780,993

Weighted number of shares for the year 2,123,716,778 2,136,996,425

Basic earnings per share (thebe) 20.7 29.8

Number of share:
Weighted number of shares 2,123,716,778 2,136,996,424

Dilution effect - number of shares (note 17) 41,956,100 46,347,400
2,165,672,878 2,183,343,824

Diluted earnings per share (thebe) 20.3 29.2

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

25 DIVIDEND PAID
Previous year final dividend paid during the year 278,373 139,363

Interim dividend paid 184,916 182,244

Total dividend paid to equity holders 463,289 321,607

Dividends per share : Interim (thebe) - paid 8.7 8.5

: Final (thebe) - proposed 3.3 9.0

: *Special dividend (thebe) - paid - 4.1

26 SEGMENT INFORMATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on after taxation earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent and
the weighted average number of shares in issue during the period as follows:

Effect of shares issued
(31 December 2018 - 5 345 810 shares ; 31 December 2017 - 9 281 250 shares)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Effect of share buy back
(31 December 2018 - Nil ; 31 December 2017 - 24 400 000)

The activities of individual country segments that are not individually quantitatively significant, but have similar economic
characteristics (nature of services rendered, class of customers, distribution methodology and similarity in regulatory
requirements) have been aggregated into:
- Other Southern Africa includes : Lesotho and Swaziland
- Other East Africa includes: Kenya, Rwanda and Uganda
- West Africa includes: Nigeria and Ghana

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on after taxation earnings attributable to equity holders and the weighted
average number of shares in issue during the year, adjusted for the effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares as follows:

Following the introduction of the management approach of IFRS 8, operating segments are reported in accordance with the
internal reporting provided to the Group Managing Director (the Chief Operating Decision-Maker) ("CODM"), who is responsible
for allocating resources to the reportable segments and assessing performance. Operating segments are reviewed and
reported geographically to the CODM. All reported segments used by the Group meet the definition of a reportable segment.

The Group operates in eleven countries, namely Botswana, Ghana, Kenya, Lesotho, Mozambique, Namibia, Nigeria, Rwanda,
Swaziland, Tanzania and Uganda.

Accordingly, the reportable segments are as follows: Botswana, Namibia, Mozambique, Other Southern Africa,
Tanzania, Other East Africa, West Africa and Holding company.

*In the prior year the Board declared and paid a special dividend of 4.1 thebe per share as distribution of the proceeds from the
Namibia IPO to its Shareholders.
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

27

Relationships:
Letshego Holdings Limited Parent Company
Subsidiaries Refer to note 31

27.1 Related party transactions

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

27.2
Paid during the period
- Short-term employee benefits 9,725 8,317

9,725 8,317

28 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

No later than 1 year 14,852 18,720
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 23,710 22,291

38,562 41,011

29 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Authorised by the directors:
- Not contracted for 41,909 106,181

30 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Dividend declaration

The above commitments are wholly in respect of capital expenditure and funds to meet these will be provided from the Group's internal
resources.

In terms of the Long Term Incentive Scheme there were no awards that vested relating to the 31 December 2018 financial year. In the
prior period, 1,202,511 and 614,692 ordinary shares vested to ACM Low and C Patterson respectively during March 2018 that related to
the 31 December 2017 financial period.

Letshego Holdings Company entered into a strategic partnership with a financial services company and acquired 3.1% of its shareholding
which is classified as an available for sale financial asset (note 8). During the year certain subsidiaries of the Group entered into a number
of transactions with the Company all of which were on an arm's length basis and is normal course of business.

There were no other material changes in the affairs of the Group between the 31 December 2018 year end and the date of the approval of
these financial statements.

A second and final dividend of 3.3 thebe per share was declared on 1 March 2019.

Compensation paid to key management personnel (executive directors)

The group operates a number of branches and office premises under operating lease. Lease payments are generally increased annually
to reflect the market rentals. The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable building operating leases are as follows:

On the 27 March 2019 the Group Chief Executive Officer P.J.S Crouse resigned and D. Ndebele was appointed as the Interim Group
Chief Executive Officer.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The Company 'Letshego Holdings Limited' is listed on the Botswana Stock Exchange. The Group partnered with Sanlam (SEM) to be its
preferred insurance provider by offering innovative stand alone and embedded insurance solution. Sanlam owns 59% of Botswana
Insurance Holdings Limited (BIHL) which is a shareholder of Letshego Holdings Limited. However loans and advances of Letshego
Financial Services Botswana (Pty) Ltd are insured through Botswana Life Insurance Limited which is a subsidiary of BIHL and no
commission is earned.

The Group identifies a related party if an entity or individual:
- directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the entity (this
includes parent companies and subsidiaries);

- has an interest in the entity whether it gives it significant control or not;

- has control over the entity;

- is an associate company, joint venture or is jointly controlled; or
- is a member of key management personnel of the Group. Key management personnel comprise the executive directors.
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LETSHEGO HOLDINGS LIMITED

31

Letshego Financial Services (Proprietary)
Limited

Botswana Unsecured consumer lending 100 100

AFB Ghana (Plc) Ghana
Unsecured consumer lending
and deposit licensed

100 100

Letshego Kenya Limited Kenya
Group lending, MSE and
unsecured consumer lending

100 100

Letshego Financial Services Lesotho Lesotho Unsecured consumer lending 95 95

Letshego Financial Services Mozambique,
SA

Mozambique
Unsecured consumer lending
and deposit licensed

98 98

Letshego Holdings Namibia Limited Namibia
Unsecured consumer lending
and deposit licensed

78 78

ERF 8585 (Pty) Limited Namibia Property 100 100
Letshego Microfinance Bank Nigeria
(Proprietary) Limited

Nigeria
Unsecured consumer lending
and deposit licensed

100 100

Letshego Financial Services Swaziland
Limited

Swaziland Unsecured consumer lending 85 85

Letshego Tanzania Limited Tanzania Unsecured consumer lending 100 100

Letshego Bank (T) Limited Tanzania
Unsecured consumer lending
and deposit licensed

100 75

Letshego Uganda Limited Uganda Unsecured consumer lending 85 85

Letshego South Africa Limited South Africa Support services 100 100

Letshego Mauritius Limited Mauritius
Unsecured consumer lending
and deposit licensed

100 100

31.1 Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary

31 December
2018

P '000

Consideration paid to non-controlling interest 15,547
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired (5,936)

Excess of consideration paid recognised in Group's equity 9,611

31.2 Sales of interest in Letshego Holdings Namibia Limited

31 December
2017

Consideration received from the sale of interest 87,478

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests disposed (70,791)

Excess of consideration received recognised in Group's equity 16,687

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The Group determines control over any operating entity largely by virtue of power over the investee, exposure to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power over the investee to effect the amount of the investor's returns.
Details of subsidiaries of the Group are shown below:

31 December 2017 %
holding

Country of
incorporation

In September 2018, the Group acquired the remaining 25% of the issued shares of Letshego Bank Tanzania Limited for a purchase
consideration of P15.6 million.The Group now holds 100% of the equity share capital of the entity and it derecognised non-controlling interest
and recorded a decrease in equity. The effect of changes in the ownership are summarised as follows:

On 28 September 2017 Letshego Holdings Namibia Limited (LHN) was successfully listed on the Namibia Stock exchange (NSX) and Group
disposed of 7% interest out of the 85% interest held in LHN for a net consideration of P87 million. The effect of changes in the interest of LHN
on the equity attributable to owners of Group during the year is summarised as follows:

Subsidiary company Nature of business
31 December 2018

% holding
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31

31.3 Non-controlling interest (NCI)

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Summarised balance sheet
Assets 2,589,142 2,305,740
Liabilities 1,303,245 1,085,179

Net assets 1,285,897 1,220,561

Accumulated non-controlling interest 278,267 262,937

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue 581,384 527,312
Profit for the year 295,065 307,386

Profit allocated to non-controlling interest 64,914 51,468

Summarised cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 267,687 178,822
Cash flows used in investing activities (140,266) (93,786)
Cash flows from financing activities 190,826 45,562

318,247 130,598

Significant restrictions

32 INVOLVEMENT WITH UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

Type Interest held by the
Group

Total net assets

Comprehensive insurance through cell
captive arrangement ("cell captive")

The cell captive
declare dividends to
Group

83,596

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The Group does not have significant restrictions on its ability to access or use its assets to settle liabilities.

Set out below is summarised financial information for Letshego Holdings Namibia Limited, which has a material non-controlling interest to the
Group. The amounts disclosed are before inter-company elimination.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (continued)

The cell captive is not consolidated as the Group does not have control over these entities. The net assets of the cell captive are included in
other receivables and payables (note 5 and note 12). There are no significant risks, nor expected changes therein, associated with the

The table below shows the types of entities that the Group does not consolidate but in which it holds an interest:

Nature and purpose

To mitigate against the Group's credit risk in
Mozambique and Namibia

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL HISTORY

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
December December December December December

P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000 P'000
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,188,402 492,367 529,476 526,290 320,544
Advances to customers 8,698,831 7,768,904 6,689,740 6,311,678 5,686,796
Other receivables 252,491 201,605 166,717 177,585 135,582
Income tax receivable 19,074 17,967 17,250 27,570 11,178
Available-for-sale financial asset 53,591 53,591 53,591 - -
Property, plant and equipment 80,532 92,061 76,034 76,030 51,762
Intangible assets 45,488 55,340 52,609 61,312 45,592
Goodwill 106,229 122,280 129,408 170,868 55,250
Deferred tax assets 211,651 156,655 106,961 68,000 25,866
Total assets 10,656,289 8,960,770 7,821,786 7,419,333 6,332,570

Liabilities
Customers deposits 497,718 228,432 107,696 154,495 3,995
Deposits from banks - - - 77,364 -
Cash collateral 27,028 27,319 39,225 44,667 41,692
Trade and other payables 492,225 261,751 294,416 175,493 209,521
Income tax payable 232,132 182,879 99,373 73,494 60,406
Deferred tax liabilities 3,205 5,290 808 2,006 -
Borrowings 5,329,319 3,984,607 3,394,116 2,768,412 1,937,844
Total liabilities 6,581,627 4,690,278 3,935,634 3,295,931 2,253,458

Stated capital 862,621 849,845 875,639 989,487 975,510
Foreign currency translation reserve (696,276) (680,417) (634,293) (254,293) (2,189)
Legal reserve 73,519 39,607 32,189 22,178 5,108
Share based payment reserve 18,089 38,840 35,835 19,705 21,246
Retained earnings 3,500,317 3,709,308 3,383,983 3,197,534 2,925,000
Total equity attributable to equity holders of
the company

3,758,270 3,957,183 3,693,353 3,974,611 3,924,675

Non-controlling interests 316,392 313,309 192,799 148,791 154,437
Total equity and liabilities 10,656,289 8,960,770 7,821,786 7,419,333 6,332,570

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Interest income 2,718,257 2,252,636 1,963,129 1,753,556 1,454,907
Interest expense (654,079) (470,630) (352,362) (326,694) (167,582)
Net interest income 2,064,178 1,782,006 1,610,767 1,426,862 1,287,325

Fee and commission income 30,735 38,596 24,617 28,699 23,137
Other operating income 267,421 234,169 209,724 229,390 183,684

Total income 2,362,334 2,054,771 1,845,108 1,684,951 1,494,146

Employee benefits (390,177) (367,057) (309,016) (212,487) (207,034)
Other operating costs (590,158) (446,952) (407,873) (297,106) (225,500)
Operating income before impairment 1,381,999 1,240,762 1,128,219 1,175,358 1,061,612

Impairment loss (361,491) (237,149) (180,649) (138,864) (91,480)
Operating income before taxation 1,020,508 1,003,613 947,570 1,036,494 970,132
Taxation (510,026) (322,367) (337,500) (311,891) (263,801)
Profit for the year 510,482 681,246 610,070 724,603 706,331

Appropriations
Dividends (321,607) (371,685) (371,685) (370,450) (254,648)
Retained income 188,875 309,561 238,385 354,153 451,683

Attributable to :
Equity holders of the parent company 438,639 637,663 568,145 665,179 659,394
Non-controlling interests 71,843 43,583 41,925 59,424 46,937

510,482 681,246 610,070 724,603 706,331

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements of the group, and is unaudited.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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GROUP VALUE ADDED STATEMENT

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Value added
Value added is the wealth the Group has created by providing loans to clients

Interest income 2,718,257 2,252,636
Cost of services (654,079) (470,630)
Value added services 2,064,178 1,782,006
Fee and commission income 30,735 38,596
Other operating income 267,421 234,169
Other operating costs (553,867) (414,152)
Impairment of advances (361,491) (237,149)

1,446,976 1,403,470
Value allocated

To employees
Staff costs 390,177 367,057

To expansion and growth
Retained income 47,193 359,639
Depreciation 24,444 23,164
Amortisation 11,847 9,636
Deferred tax (17,068) (44,187)

66,416 348,252

To Government
Taxation 475,794 366,554

To providers of capital
Dividends to shareholders 463,289 321,607

1,395,676 1,403,470

Summary % %
Employees 28.0 26.2
Expansion and growth 4.8 24.8
Government 34.1 26.1
Providers of capital 33.2 22.9

100.0 100.0

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING

Top ten shareholders

Number % Number %

Botswana Life Insurance Ltd 561,036 26.2 561,036 26.2

First National Bank of Botswana Nominees (Pty) Ltd- AA BPOPF 260,669 12.2 260,669 12.2

ADP I HOLDING 2 180,484 8.4 180,484 8.4
First National Bank of Botswana Nominees (Pty) Ltd- BIFM BPOPF
EQUITY 122,340 5.7 108,587 5.1

BMO Investment : Former Lloyd George Investment Company 116,510 5.4 52,096 2.4
Stanbic Nominees Botswana (Pty) Ltd - Botswana Insurance Fund
Management Limited 65,895 3.1 62,114 2.9

First National Bank Nominees (Pty) Ltd - BPOPF Allan Gray 60,288 2.8 61,682 2.9

HSBC : Substainable Capital Africa Alpa Fund 59,405 2.8 33,491 1.6
Standard Chartered Bank of Botswana Nominees (Pty) Ltd -
NTGSLUX 010/03 52,854 2.5 53,471 2.5

First National Bank of Botswana Nominees (Pty) Ltd- IAM BPOPFP 43,721 2.0 48,320 2.3

1,523,202 71.0 1,520,242 66.3
Other corporate entities, nominees and trusts and individuals 620,843 29.0 623,803 33.7

Total 2,144,045 100.0 2,144,045 100.0

Shares held % Shares held %
Number ('000) Number ('000)

*Christopher Low - - 3,169 0.1
**Colm Patterson - - 3,371 0.2
Harrington Karuhanga 29 0.0 29 0.0

29 0.0 6,569 0.3

*Christopher Low the Group Chief Executive Officer resigned from the Board on 02 August 2018.
**Colm Patterson the Group Chief Financial Officer resigned from the Board on 2 March 2019.

2018 2017
31 December 31 December

2018 2017

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

31 December

Shares held ('000)

31 December

Shares held ('000)
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